CONVERTINO v. UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE et al Doc. 196

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

RICHARD G. CONVERTINO

~
~—

Plaintiff,
V. Case No04-cv-0236RCL
UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF ;
JUSTICE et al., )

Defendars. ;

)

Memorandum Opinion

This matter comes before the Court on defendant’s Motion for Summary
Judgment. Mot. Summ. J., July 12, 2010, ECF No. 176. Also before the Court is
plaintiff's Motion for a Stay to Depose Key Witnesses Pursuant to Rule 56(f). Ngt. St
Oct. 18, 2010, ECF No. 187; Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(f). Hawagefully considered the
Motions, the Oppositions, the Repli¢se entire record in this case, and the applicable
law, the Court will grant defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment and deny plaintif
Motion for a Stay. A review of the background of the case, the governing law, the

parties’ arguments, and the Court’s reasoning in resolving those arguments.follows
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|. Background

“In the aftermath of the Sept. 11, 2001, terrorist attacks, 2002 became the year of
terrorist hunting.”

Less than a week after 9/11, the Detroit Joint Terrorism Strike Force raided
it thought was the apartment of Nabil-Karabh, an individual on the FBIwatch list.
Morford Report §DA232)% Morford Decl. 2, June 4, 2004, ECF No. 176-15. Al-
Marabh’s name was on the mailbox, but he was not living at the apartment at the time.
Morford Report 6; Morford Decl. T 2. Instead, agents found Kareem Koubriti and two
others “living as apparent transients with little or no furniture.” MorforddRe6;
Morford Decl. T 2. Agents arrested the three men and charged them with possession of
false identity document$dorford Report §DA 232), Morford Decl. § 2. Prosecution of
the case was assignedAssistant United States Attorn&chard G. Convertino, and
what began as simple document fraud prosecution soon escalated imigharofile

terrorism case-thefirst to proceed to trial aftehe 9/11attacks Morford Report 6.

To say the prosecution did not go as planned is an understatement. The

Department of Justice alleges tkaanvertino, aided by a supporting cast of unsavory

! Dennis WagnerAftermath of 9/11 Has U.S. on Ed@zec. 23, 2009),
http://www.azcentral.com/review/2009/news/articles/2009/12/23/20091223adecade-
CR.html.

2 The Mofford Reportrecounts the conclusions of a government investigation ordered by
Judge Gerald Rosert.was publicly filed with the Eastern District of Michigan on

August 31, 2004, with the caption “Government’s Consolidated Response Concurring in
the Defendants’ Motions for a New Trial a@vernment’s Motion to Dismiss Count

One Without Prejudice and Memorandum in Law in Support Thereof.” References to
“DA” are to the “Defendant’s Appendix,” which is on file with the Colviany of the
documents included in the Defendant’s Appendix wetamamle available to the Court

on ECF or anywhere else.



characters, broke an astonishing number of rules and DOJ policies ttharing
prosecutionE.g, Opp’n Mot. Summ. J. Ex. PR Referral Lettdr Nov. 3, 2003ECF
No. 188-9. Suspicions of Convertino’s misconduct led to investigations, and the
investigationded tohis referral tddOJ’s Office of Professional Responsibilitg.
Information about the particulars of Convertino’s OPR referral found its wayheato t
hands of David Ashenfeltera+eporter for th®etroit Free Press-who wasted no time
in translatingt into a shocking news story. Opp’n Mot. Summ. J. EX.ekror Case
Prosecuor is Probed on ConduygtJan. 17, 2004, ECF No. 188Ashenfelter’s article
turned the tables on Convertino, shining a burnirggligiit directly upon the terrorism
prosecutds dleged misdeeds. In the end, the suspected Detroit terrorists’ convictions
were overturned because of prosecutorial misconthnited States v. KoubrjtB36 F.
Supp. 2d 676 (E.D. Mich. 2004). Tales of this hgghkes terrorism case gone wrong

filled headlines, leaving a broken reputation and this Privacy Act céiseiirwake.

Convertino contends that an unknown person or ped®Jdisclosed details
from hisOPR referrato AshenfelterCompl. 28—-29, Feb. 13, 2004, ECF No. 1. This
anonymous DOJ employee (or employees), according to Convéxrien,the leak
would destroy his reputation and walfed by a desire to get back at Honcriticizing
the Department and for testifying before a congressional comntttigeid. at 10-16,
22-23, 24-25, 29Based on these allegatio@ynvertino sued DOJ and otherkeging
violations of the Administrative Procedure Act, the First Amendment, the Lloyd
LaFollette Act, andhe Privacy Actld. at7, 25. This Court granted the defendants’

Partial Motion to Dismiss, leaving DQak the sole remaining defendant and the Byiva



Act allegation as the sole remaining co@wnvertino v. U.SDep’t of Justice393 F.

Supp. 2d 42 (D.D.C. 2005).

As the above introduction shows, the facts of this case could occupy the
imagination of a good fiction writer for some time, but very tgwhe more salacious
details are actually relevant to the issues before the Court or to its anBbsd down to
essentials, this case is the simple story of Richard G. Convertino’s unsutcqasst to
unmask the leaker diis private informationSeven years of litigation have sapped the
resources of more than one United States District Court, yet Convertino sseotd
answering the most basic question of all: Who done it? Lacking that Yaaiiation,
Convertino is defenseleagainst DOJ’s Mtion for Summary Judgment. Accordingly,
this Court must grant iBefore doing so, howeveit,reviews the relevant factual

background.

a. The Ashenfelter Article

On January 17, 2004, the front page ofDietroit Free Pres$eatured an article
by David Ashafelter entitledTerror Case Prosecutor is Probed on Cond@pp’n Mot.
Summ. J. Ex. 1, Jan. 17, 2004, ECF No. 188dhenfelter’s article repat confidential
information regarding Convertino’s OPR referral and the allegations obnusct that
led toit. Id. It sourced this information to “[Justice] Department officials” who spoke on
condition of anonymity because they “fear[ed] repercussiddsAshenfelter also signed
a sworn affidavit confirming that his source(s) were R@ployees. Ashenfelter Ded.

4, Mar. 26, 2008, ECF No. 188-6.



b. The Office of the Inspector General Investigation into the Source(s) of
the Leak

DOJ’s Office of the Inspector General conducted an investigéti determine
who leaked information to thBetroit Free PressOpp’n Mot. Summ J. Ex. 4 at(DIG
Report), Aug. 9, 2004, ECF No. 188@IG is a DOJ officaasked with*conduct[ind
independent investigations . . . of United States Department of Justice personnel and
programs to detect and deter waste, fraud, abuse, and misconduct, and to promote
integrity, economy, efficiency, and effectiveness in Department of Jugterations.”
USDOJ—The Office of the Inspector Generhttp://www.justice.gov/oig/Thus, OIG
“focused its investigation” on “approximately 30 DOJ emp&s/evho had access to the
materials related to Converd’s OPR referral. Opp’n Mot Summ. J. Ex. 4 at 5 (OIG
Report). It “interviewed 10 employees in the Detroit USAO, some of them $evera
times.”ld. It “also interviewed 20 Department of Justice officiadVashington, D.C.”
Id. After a thorough investigation, “The OIG was unable to determine by a
preponderance of the evidence the source of the information about Convertino . . . that

was published in thBetroit Free Pres®n January 17, 20041d. at 16.

c. Convertino’s Unsuccessful Quest to Identify the Source(s) of the Leak

Realizingthat “the icentity of Mr. Ashenfelter’'s soae(s) rest at the heart of [his
cas€, Convertino has dedicated much time and energy into his own quest to identify
them PI's Reply to NonParty Media Respawlents’ Response to PI's Motion to Compel
Productionat 16-11, Convertino v. U.S. Dep’t of Justic&07¢v-13842RHC-RSW

(E.D. Mich. Apr. 18, 2008), ECF No. 25 (DA 322-23) (internal quotation marks



omitted. Despite seven years of dedeateffort, Convertino iso closer to identifying
the source(s) of the leak today than he was when this litigation comme&icédstrate
the extent of Convertino’s efforts in this regard, the Cdescribe<Convertino’s

unsuccessful seeh.

Convertino issued a subpoena from this Court to Gannett Co., the corporate parent
of theDetroit Free PressSubpoenaishenfelter v. Convertin@:06€v-14016, ECF No.

1 Ex. G. The subpoena sought to h@annettdesignaté‘one or more officers,

directas, or managing agents, or other persons™ to “testify on behalf’ of its newspapers
concerning the source of the article by David Ashenfelter entitled ‘Terrer Cas
Prosecutor is Probed on Conductd’ (quoting Fed. R. Civ. P. 30(b)(6)pn September

12, 2006, Ashenfelter filed suit against Convertino, contending that Converdittempt

to obtain his confidential source information fromar@ett without giving hinan

opportunity to protect his asserted reporters’ privilege “violate[d] Asherifelights

under the First and Fifth Amendments of the United States Constituiomplaint

49, Ashenfelter v. Convertin@:06<v-14016 (E.D. Mich.), ECF No. 1. Convertino

moved to dismiss Ashenfelter’'s complailot. at ECF No. 4After the parties exchanged

briefing on the motion, Convertino withdrew the subpoena, and Ashenfelter dismissed

the case on May 17, 200d. at ECF No. 14.

In the meantime, Convertino served subpoenas issued from the Eastern District of
Michigan on Ashenfelter and thetroit FreePress seeking both depositions and
documentsConvertino v. U.S. Dep’t of Justicdo. 07CV-13842, 2007 WL 2782039, at
*1 (E.D. Mich. Sept. 24, 2007). On July 6, 2007, after Ashenfelter anddtreit Free

Pressrefused to comply with the subpoenas, Convertino opened a miscellaneous action
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in the Eastern District of Michigan and filed a motion to compel production from
Ashenfelter and thBetroit Free PressConvertino v. U.S. Dep’t of Justic2:07-¢cv-

13842 (E.D. Mich.), ECF No. 1.

On August 28, 2008, the court granted Convertino’s motion to compel
Ashenfelter’s compliance with the subpoena finding that identification of Asherdelt
source or sources was necessary for Convertino to have any chance of privhing
Privacy Act suit against DOConvertino v. U.S. Dep’t of Justicdo. 07CV-13842,

2008 WL 4104347, at *7 (E.D. Mich. Aug. 28, 20@8ro establish that the DOJ
committed a willful or intentional violation, [Convertino] must present evidence of the
disclosing person’s state of mind, which requires him to identify and question those w
perpetrated the allegedly improper disclosure.”) (citadfill v. Gonzales505 F. Supp.

2d 33, 42-43 (D.D.C. 2007)). The court denied Convertino’s motion to compel

compliance by th®etroit Free Pressfinding that it was “unreasonably cumulative

[and] duplicative.”Id. at *9 (quoting Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(b)(2)(C)(i)) (alteration in
original); see alsaConvertino v. U.S. Dep’t of Justicso. 07€CV-13842, 2008 WL

4998369 (E.D. Mich. Nov. 21, 2008) (denying Ashenfelter’s motion for reconsideration).
Ashenfelter made further requests for protection from the Eastern Digthtthigan

and from this Court, both of which were deni€dnvertino v. U.S. Dep’t of Justic260
F.R.D. 678 (E.D. Mich. 20080rder, Dec. 4, 2008, ECF No. 1@this Court’s Order

denying Ashenfelter’s motions for protective order and stay).

On December 8, 2008, Convertino deposed Ashenfelter for the first time in this
case Mot Summ. J. Ex. 4Hjrst Ashenfelter Dep. ECF No. 176-4Ashenfelterinvoked

his Fifth Amendment privilegandrefused to substantively answer any questimhat
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7-8. On December 23, 2008, Convertino filed motions seeking contempt and sanctions
against AshenfelteConvertino v. U.S. Dep't of Justic2:07-cv-13842 (E.D. Mich,

ECF Nos. 39-40. On February 26, 2009, the court denied Convertino’s motion seeking
contempt, but ordered Ashenfelter to appear at a second deposition to be held at the
federal courthouse in Detroffonvertino v. U.S. Dep’t of Justicddo. 07CV-13842,

2009 WL 497400 (E.D. Michx. see also Convertino v. U.S. Dep’t of Justide. 07CV-
13842, 2009 WL 891701 (E.D. Mich. Mar. 31, 2009) (denying Ashenfelter's motion to
certify for interlocutory appeal)n re: David AshenfeltelNo. 09-1443 (6th Cir. Apr. 16,

2009) (denying Ashenfelter’s petition for a writ of mandamus).

On April 21, 2009, counsel for the parties congregated in Judge Cleland’s jury
room for Ashenfelter’s second deposition. Mot. Summ. J. Ex. 5 (Second Ashenfelter
Dep.), Apr. 21, 2009, ECF No. 176-5. This time, Ashenfelter substantively answered
some questions but refused to answer any about how he had obtained information for the
article.Id. at 86-81, 84. Judge Cleland eventually sustained Ashenfelter’s assertion of the
Fifth Amendment privilege with regard to questions about how he had obtained the

relevant informationld. at 105.

In sum, Convertino has made a monumental effort to identify Ashenfelter’s
source(s) and has had absolutely no success. Moreover, OIG conducted its own extensive
investigation into the identityf the source(s) and was edyalnsuccessful. After seven
years of litigation, then, Convertino cannot answer the question that lies
at the heart of [his] casePlaintiff’'s Reply to NonParty Media Respulents’ Response

to PI's Motion to Compel Productiat 10-11,Convertino v. U.S. Dep'’t of Justic&07-



cv-13842RHC-RSW (E.D. Mich. Apr. 18, 2008), ECF No. 25 (internal quotation marks

omitted.

Il. Legal Standard

A. Summary Judgment

Summary judgment is apgpriate when “the pleadings, the discovery and
disclosure materials on file, and any affidavits show that there is no gessiieeais to
any material fact and that the movant is entittepitigment as a matter of law.” Fed. R.
Civ. P. 5€c). This standrd requires more than the mere existens®ofefactual
dispute between the parties to defeat an otherwise properly supported motion for
summary judgment; “the requirement is that there bgemuinessue ofmaterialfact.”
Anderson v. Liberty Lobby77 U.S. 242, 248 (1986) (emphasis in originalinaterial
fact is one that, under the substantive law applicable to the case, is capalaetioiaf
the outcome of the litigatiod. An issue is genuinehere the “evidence is such that a
reasonable jurgould return a verdict for the nonmoving party,” as opposed to evidence
that is “so onesided that one party must prevail as a matter of l&vat 248, 252The
nonmoving party’s evidence is to be believed, and all reasonable inferences from the
record are to be drawn thatparty’s favor.Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inet77 U.S

242, 255 (1986).

lll. Analysis

Convertino brings several claims under the Privacy Act, wipisierns federal
agencies’ acquisition, maintenance, and control of records containing informadian a
individuals. 5 U.S.C. 8§ 552d@he Act applies only to “records” maintained in a “system
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of records” by a federal “agency,” as each of those terms is defined by the atatut
elaborated upon in case law, that are retrieved by the nantieesridentifying
information of the individual. 5 U.S.C. § 552a(k)imits what information agencies
may maintain about individuals, requires that agencies establish approprigt@asigdo
ensure the confidentiality of records, and limits agencies’ authority tmséotcords.

Id. 88 552a(b), (e)(1), & (e)10Convertino raises separate claims under the Privacy Act’s
disclosure, accuracy, rules of conduct, and accounting provisions,dawtsieea common
fault hampers them althe Court need not consider them each individddlihstead, the
Court first explains whyonvertino’s failure to produce any evidence that DOJ acted
intentionally or willfully is fatal to all of his claims. Next goes on to provide additional
analysis of certain problems that apply particularly to his miile®nduct and accounting
claims Finally, the Court explains its reasons for denying Convertino’s 56(f) Motion.

1. Eachof Convertino’s Privacy Act claims failsbecause he produces no
evidence upon which a reasonable fadinder could conclude that DOJ acted
willfully or intentionally.

a. The Privacy Act’s unique and exacting willfulness or intentionality
standard

Section 552(g)(4) of the Privacy Act provides:

(4) In any suit brought under the provisions of subsection)(@)Dr (D)

of this section in which the court determinieat the agency acted in a
manrer which was intentional or willful, the United States shall be liable
to the individual in an amount equal to the sum of-

3 Convertino originally brought Privacy Act claims under 5 U.S.C. §§ 552a(e)(7) and
(e)(10), but announces in his Opposition to DOJ’s Motion for Summary Judgment that he
“does not oppose summary judgment on the issues of whether DOJ violated [those
provisions].” Opp’n Mot Summ. J. 2 n.2. Accordingly, the Court will grant summary
judgment with regard to Convertino’s (e)(7) and (e)(10) claims without further
consideration.

10



(A) actual damages sustained by the indiaidas a result of the
refusal or failure, but in no case shall a person entitled to recovery
receive less than the sum of $1,000; and

(B) the costs of the action together with reasonable attorney fees as
determined by the court.

5 U.S.C. 8§ 552(g)(4). Subsections (g)(1)(C) and (D), in turn, provide:

(9)(1) Civil remedies—Whenever an agency

(C) fails to maintain any record concerning any individual with such
accuracy, relevance, timeliness, and completeness as is necessary to
assure fairness in any deternioa relating to the qualifications,
character, rights, or opportunities of, or benefits to the individual that
may be made on the basis of such record, and consequently a
determination is made which is adverse to the individual; or

(D) fails to comply wih any other provision of this sectipar any
rule promulgated thereunder, in such a way as to have an adverse
effect on an individual,

the individual may bring a civil action against the agency, and the district
courts of the United States shall havesdictionin the matters under the
provisions of this subsection.

Id. 88 552(g)(1)(D) (emphasis added). Thus, each of Convertino’s claims requires him t

prove that DOJ acted willfully or tantionally.

Standards of intentionality and willfulness are amglbut rare in the law.
Importantly, though, the Privacy Act’s intent or willfulness requiremepéauliar to the
Act and must not be confused with less exacting standards parading under the same name
from other common law or statutory sourcéthite v.Office of Pers. Mgmt840 F.2d 85,
87 (D.C. Cir. 1988) (per curiam) (“[T]he words ‘intentional’ and ‘willful’ in § 552a(g)(4
do not have their vernacular meanings . . . . [lJnstead, they are terms of art, . . . [which]
set a standard that is somewhaager than gross negligenceTh show intent or
willfulness under the Privacy Act, Convertino must show that DOJ engaged in behavior

so patently egregious that anyone undertaking the conduct should have known it was
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unlawful. Laningham v. U.S. Nayg813 F.2d 1236, 1242 (D.C. Cir. 1987) (citations
omitted).Put another way, Convertino must show that “the offending agency acted
‘without grounds for believing [its actions] lawful’ or that i[t] ‘flagrantysregarded’ the
rights guaranteed under the Privaamt.” 1d. (QuotingAlbright v. United States32
F.2d 181, 189 (D.C. Cir. 1984)). In determining intenwillfulness the Court must
examine (1) the “purpose” for which the disclosure was made; (2) “the souteeidéa
to” make the disclosure; and (3) other “circumstances surrounding the disclosure.”

Albright, 732 F.2d at 189.

b. Without knowledge of the leaker’s identity, Convertino cannot
establishthat DOJ acted willfully or intentionally

To meet the Privacy Act’s high standard for a showing of willfulness or
intentionality, Convertino must know the leaker’s identiyzCready v. Principi297 F.
Supp. 2d 178, 197 (D.D.C. 20088yv'd on other grounddMcCready v. Nicholsgm65
F.3d 1 (D.C. Cir. 2006). The D.C. Circuit illustrated this principleee v. Department
of Justice 413 F.3d 53 (D.C. Cir. 2005), a case that—Ilike this one—involved alleged
“leaks” of investigatie information. Thé.eeCourt grantedhe plaintiff the rightto
depose reporters regarding the names of government sa@o@sizing that “without
obtaining truthful testimony from journalists concerning the identities of the Gionest
sources who allegedly leaked information to the press, [plaintiff] cannot prodetthis
lawsuit” Lee v. Dep’t of JusticelO1 F. Supp. 2d 123 (D.D.C. 2005). The D.C. @trc
upheld that order, agreeimgth the district court that ithout saurces’ nameghe
plaintiff's “ability to show the other elements of [his lawsuit], such as willfsgrend

intent, will be compromised.” 413 F.3d at;&@e alserilli v. Smith 656 F.2d 705, 714
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(D.C. Cir. 1981) (“The success of [appellants’] Privacy Act and Fourth Amendment
claims may depend on the identities of the individuals who leaked the wiretd}; logs.
McCready 297 F. Supp. 2d 197 (“Without neevidence of the perpetrator of the
alleged ‘leak’ and that the ‘leak’ was intentional and willful, no violation of tineaBy

Act can be determined.”). Indeed, another judge on this Court has observed thattta w
of case law suggests that in ordeptove that a violation of the Privacy Act has
occurred, the actual source of the information must be identitatfill v. Gonzales

C.A. 03-1793, Order 2 (D.D.C. March 30, 200¥herefore, lacking any evidence of the
leake’s identity, no reasonabladtfinder could find that DOJ acted willfully or

intentionally with regard to any leak in this cése.

c. Without knowledge of the leaker’s identity, Convertino cannot
establish that the leaker was acting within the scope of his DOJ
employment.

Part of the eason Convertino has to know the leaker’s identity in order to defeat
DOJ’s Motion for Summary Judgment is that without it, he cannot shatitheDOJ

employee who allegedly leak@tformation to theDetroit Free Pressvasacting within

* Convertino counters by citiPilon v. United States Dep't of Justjc&6 F. Supp. 7
(D.D.C. 1992), for the proposition that where the plaintiff produces evidence thal leake
information was closely heMithin the DOJand available only to a limited number of
department officials, that should suffice to create an issue of material teotthe

Privacy Act. Opp’n Mot. Summ. J. 11. Bieilon does not apply to this case.Rilon, the
defendant brought a motion to dismiss or for summary judgment before any discovery
had taken place, 796 F. Supp. at 11 (“Plaintiff has not yet had the opportunity for
discovery . . .."), andudge Greene was weigh the sufficiency of the allegations in the
complaint onlyld. at 12 (“The issue before the Court is whether the complaint can
withstand a motion for summary judgment; . . . .”). Here, by contrast, Convertino has had
years of discovery and has consistently failed to produce admissible, probativeevide
that could meet his burden of proof. Therefore, summary judgment is appropriate with
regad to his disclosure and accuracy claims.
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the scope of hisrdherDOJ employment at the time of the leak. In order for an agency to
be liable for a Privacy Act violation allegedly committed by one of its emploees
responsible agency employee must have been acting within the scoperdfiérs
employmentAlexander v. F.B.[.971 F. Supp. 603, 610 (D.D.C. 19938 also

McCready v. Nicholsqi65 F.3d 1, 13 (D.C. Cir. 2006) (“The Privacy Act constrains
agenciegegarding their records and imposes obligationagenciesvhen they use such
records.”) (emphases original). Therefore, even if Convertino could prove that tak|
musthave come from a DOJ employehich he cannet-his claim wouldfail because

no reasonable fadinder could conclude that any such DOJ employee was acting within

the scope of hisr heremployment at the time of the leak.

d. Convertino’s argument that a reasonable factinder could find that
Tukel was the leaker fails

Perhaps recognizing what igeput it mildly—the vulnerability of his argument,
Convertino argues that he does, in fact, have evidence of the individual leaker’'y.identit
He unleashes a barrage of argumentsgrapeshot fashionthat a reasonable fact
finder could conclude that Tukel was the leaker, pointing to several piecesd#ries”
to support his claim. Opp’n MoEumm. J. 2426. First, the preliminary draft of the OIG
Report shows that OIG investigators focused primary attention on Tukel. Opp’n Mot.
Summ. J. Ex. 4 at 1. They also found that Tukel had (1) the most knowledge of the
allegations in the OPR Referraltkat, (2) the “greatest opportunity to leak the
information about Convertino,” and (3) a motive to leak the informalibat 11-12.

Finally, the investigators indicated that Tukel did not give straightforaasgvers to

their questions and appeared nervous and uncomfortable during his OIG inteliieivs.
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13. Convertino says his strongest evidence is that when the OIG investigatorgeldallen
Tukel with their belief that he was the source of the leak, “[H]e barely defendedlhim
.. [and] made litg attempt either during the interview or afterward to convince the

investigators that he did not leak the informatidd.”at 13-14.

Convertino also argues that Tukel’s retention of private counsel during the OIG
investigation could be used as evidence that he is the leaker. Opp’n Mot. Summ. J. 25.
Finally, he points to the testimony of Ana Brurtiis-secretar-who said, “One, [Tukel]
had the animosity to do it, he had access to all these documents and . . . | saw the article
mentions Farhat going to tal& tongress or something and for whatever reason when |

saw that, | thought, oh, there’s Tukel right thetd. at 26.

These arguments fall far short of satisfying the Privacy Act’s intenifiproa
willfulness requirement. The Court will begin with soofehe broad problems, which
apply to all of Convertino’s arguments, and then explore other problems that apply to
each of them individually. The main flaw in Convertino’s attempt to show that a
reasonable fadinder could conclude that Tukel was the s@uof the leakis that his
“evidence”amounts to nothing more than bold speculation and is therefore insufficient to
defeat DOJ’s Motion for Summary JudgmeMmaydak v. United State630 F.3d 166,
183 (D.C. Cir. 2010) (“As our case law makes clear, the Privacy Act’s ‘intentonal
willful” element cannot be established with mere speculation . . . .”) (citations d)nitte

Mulhern v. Gates525 F.Supp.2d 174, 186 (D.D.C. 2007) (quotitagding v. Gray 9

® The Court makes clear that it has not confused the intentionality or willfulness
requirement with the disclosure requirement. Convertino seeks to show that Tukel was
the leaker in order to overcome the objectiwat he cannot prove that DOJ acted

willfully or intentionally without knowledge of the leaker’s identity.
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F.3d 150, 154 (D.C. Cir. 1993) (“[A] mere unsubsiaied allegation . . . creates no
genuine issue of fact and will not withstand summary judgmenggp;alsd-ujitsu Ltd.

V. Fed. Express Corp247 F.3d 423, 428 (2d Cir. 2001) (holding that a plaintiff may not
rely “on conclusory allegations or unsudrstiated speculation’None of Convertino’s
arguments tend to show that Tukel actually leaked this information. Convertino’s burden
is not to show that Tukeould have leaked the information or that he hadadiveto

leak the information. Instead, he must show that Takelally didleak the information.
Otherwise, Privacy Act plaintiffs could prevail simply by proving a blackenad aad

an opportunity to violate the Act, thereby circumventing the Act’s text, whaopnes

proof of an intentional owillful agency disclosure before a plaintiff may recover

damages. 5 U.S.C. § 552(g)(4).

Moving to particular problems with each of Convertino’s arguments, he seeks to
use chernypicked phrases lifted out of context frompraliminary draftof the OIG
Report to reach a conclusion ti@iG itself rejectedConvertino relies on the draft
version because it is more useful to him than the final version, which replaces much of

Convertino’s “evidence” with the conclusion that:

[T]he OIG could not conclude that Kei did in fact leak this information

to the reporter. The evidence regarding his knowledge, opportunity, and
motive was offset by other factors, including evidence of his prompt
reporting and subsequent referral of the leak to DOJ OPR and his
willingnessto authorize Ashenfelter to disclose to the OIG the substance
of their conversations prior to the publication of the article.

Opp’n Mot. Summ. J. Ex. 3 at 14 (OIG Report). Yet everdthdt version makes clear
that investigators did “not have sufficientett or circumstantial evidence” to implicate

Tukel.ld. Ex. 4 at 14 (Draft OIG Report3ee also idat 16 (“[W]e did not find sufficient
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evidence to prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, that [Tukel] was the source of the
leak.”). Thus, neither the draft nor the final version of the OIG Report supports
Convertino’s conclusion that a reasonable fact-finder could conclude that Tukélewas t

leaker.

Convertino’s argument that a reasonable jury could conclude that Tukel was the
source of the leak because he retained private counsel is particularly weakstThe fir
problem is that Tukel wasot the only person to retain counsel—Convertino did as well.
Second, and more importantly, whether Tukel retained counsel is irrelevant hietasse
absolutely no bearing on whether he leaked information to Ashenfelter. Third, this Court
declines to create a rule that would discourage people from seeking legal ¢oufesel
that doing so would be used against them in later litigation. Retaining counsehis ofte

prudent—even for the blamelessand it is certainly not a justification for suspicion.

Finally, Convertino’s argument that his former secretary’s testimony that sh
believed that Tukel was the leaker would allow a reasonabliridetrr to draw the same
conclusion is totally unpersuasive. Her statement is pure speculation and is dairbase

personal knowledge. Accordingly, it is inadmissible. Fed. R. Evid. 602.

Convertino can show that Tukel had access to the information at issue in this case.
He can evenlow that Tukel did not like him. But that is simply not enough. He has
produced no evidence upon which a reasonable fact-finder could conclude that Tukel
acted on his distaste for him by leaking his information to Ashenfelter. Moreauezl T
denied beinghe leaker and testified that he was upsetami¢hat someone had leaked

information to Ashenfelter because it compromised his investigation into Convertino’s
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misconduct. Opp’n Mot. Summ. J. Ex. 15 at 183, 256 (Tukel Dep.), Apr. 24, 2009, ECF
No. 188-19. Aside from his conclusory speculations, Convertino has produced no
evidence upon which a reasonablefautler could believe that Tukel is lying and was in

fact the leaker.

e. Convertino’s argument that a reasonable facfinder could conclude
that DOJ acted willfully or intentionally because the OIG Report
narrows the universe of potential leakes to thirty DOJ employees
fails.

Lacking evidence of the leaker’s identiGonvertino grounds his argument
regarding willfulness and intentionalipn flimsy legal reasonintpat is itself based on a
flatly incorrect reading of the OIG report. He argues that the Gi@oR identified thity
potential leakers, that they were BIDJ employees, andahthereforethe leaker must
have been a DOJ employ&2pp’n Mot. Summ. J. 19. Thus, the argument goes, a
reasonable fadinder could conclude that DOJ intentionally or willfully leaked his
private information to Ashenfelter in violation of the Privacy Act. This argument is
riddled with unfounded assumptions and misegapibns of law and the Court therefore

rejects it

As a threshold matter, the Court notes that if it blessed Convertino’s argument,
then any plaintiff who proved a harmful agency disclosure would automatically have
proven—on that basis alone—intentionality or willfulness. The Court declines to adopt
thisres ipsa loquitor-like standard because it runs roughshodhosetircuit’s case law
andthelanguage of the Act itself, which explicitly requireamong other thingsa-
showing of intentionality or willfulnes$See Maydak v. U.$%30 F.3d 166, 181 (D.C.

Cir. 2010) (rejecting appellants’ argument that “wrongful intent [under the RrAeit
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could beinferredfrom the agency’s continued retention of duplicate photos”) (emphasis
added). Although this basic problem alone renders Convertino’s argument unpersuasive,

other serious problems abound.

i. Convertino misreads the OIG Report

First,the OIG Report never concludes that gekermusthave been a DOJ
employee Instead, it says, “Based on the evidence in our investigatiofgonsed
primary attentionon the Detroit USAO.” Opp’n Mot. Summ. J. Ex. 3 at 1 (OIG Report),
Dec. 15, 2004, ECF No. 188-7 (emphasis add@&te Report goes on to say that “we
determined that approximately 30 DOJ employees had aatzéise November 3 referral
letter or the December 1 OPR response. We obtained affidavits from all®f thes
individuals in which all denied providing the information to Detroit Free Press Id.
at 5 Convertincequats the scope of OIG’s investigation with the universe of potential
leakers, buDIG’s focus on certain individuals does not mean that it concluded that the

universe of ptentially responsible parties was limited to thoskvildluals.

Convertino’s argument is even less persuasive in light of OIG’s stated purpose,
which is to “conduct[] independent investigations . . . of United States Department of
Justice personnel and programs to detect and deter waste, fraud, abuse, and rjisconduc
and to promote integrity, economy, efficiency, and efiectessn Department of Justice
operations” USDOJ—The Office of the Inspector Generhatip://www.justice.gov/oig/
(emphasis addedlt. is unsurprising that an office tasked with investigating DOJ
misbehavior would focuss investigations on DOJ employeexclusively.Indeed, it
would be more surprising if DOJ focused its investigation onOd-entities. @e

could argue that it iess likelythat DOJ is responsible for the leak in light of the fact that
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OIG—an entity tasked with investigating DOJ neslavior—was unable to conclude that
DOJ was responsible even after a thorough investigation. In short, alt@dGih
purposdimited the scope of its investigatiam DOJ employees exclusivelhat does not

mean that theniverse of potential leakers limited to DOJ employees.

ii. Neither Ashenfelter’s article nor his affidavit helps Convertino to prove
that DOJ willfully or intentionally violated his Privacy Act rights.

Convertino also argues thgtatements in Ashenfelter’s article and his affidavit
congitute evidence that DOJ willfully or intentionally leaked his private informatan.
discussed above, Ashenfelter’s article sourced this information to “[JuStpartment
officials” who spoke on condition of anonymity because they “fear[ed] repeonsssi
Opp’n Mot. Summ. J. Ex. 1 (the Ashenfelter article). Ashenfelter also signeara sw
affidavit confirming that his source(s) were DOJ employkke€Ex. 2. Of course,

Convertino does not argue that Ashenfelter's affidavit or article retlealsake's

identity. Instead, he argues thdtke the OIG Report-they show that the leaker must

have been a DOJ employdes the Court has already explainexven if Convertino could
prove that an anonymous DOJ employee leaked his information, he still could not survive
summary judgment because (1) he cannot prove intent or willfulness without knowing the
leaker’s identity and (2) he cannot show that an unknown DOJ employee was acting
within the scope of his employment at tivae of the leak. Puttindibse issues to the
side,howeverthe statements to which Convertino refers from Ashenfelter’s article and

his affidavit do not constitute evidence that DOJ intentionallyilbiully violated

Convertino’s Privacy Act rights.
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Evidence cannot be used to defeat armany judgment motion unless it is
“capable of being converted into admissible evidence” at @iaken v. Democratic
Congressional Campaign Comri99 F.3d 1365, 1369 (D.C. Cir. 2000). Ashenfelter’'s
article is inadmissibleecause statements from newspaper articles offered for their truth
are hearsay“[N]ewspaper articles clearly fall within the definition of heaysand, thus,
are inadmissible.”Huitra v. Islamic Republic of Irar211 F. Supp. 2d 115, 123 (D.D.C.
2002) (Lamberth, J.) (quotirgisensadt v. Allen 113 F.3d 1240, 1997 WL 211313 (9th
Cir. 1997)) (alteration omitted¥ee also Metro. Council of NAACP Branches v. F@&
F.3d 1154, 1165 (D.C. Cir. 1995) (“We seriously question whether a New York Times
article is admissible evidence of ttrathfulness of its contents.”). Convertino’s argument
that he is not usmthe article’s statementsr the truth othe matters they assert bbas
evidence that a DOJ employee made the statefrientsavaling. Opp’n Mot. Summ. J.
11. Despite his protestations to the contrary, Convertino does seek te ssgé¢ments
for thetruth of the matters they asserhe wants to show that a DOJ official did in fact
leak information tcAshenfelterlf the article’s statements to that effaatre untrue, they
would be useless to Convertino. They are also not party admissions, as he contends,
becaus&€onvertino seeks to use the article’s assertiemst the DOJ officials’ alleged

assertions-as evidence.

Ashenfelter’s affidavit is also inadmissible. Affidavits are normally admissible
the summary judgment stage because they are capable of being converted irgibladmis
evidence at trialGleken 199 F.3d at 1369. But because Ashenfelter has consistently
refused to be desed in this case arihs successfully invoked his Fifth Amendment

privilege, he is unavailable to testify to the contents of his affideantdering it incapable

21



of being converted into evidence at trial. Fed. R. Evid. 804(b) (**‘Unavailability as a
witness’ includes situations in which the declarant . . . is exempted by rulingauititie
on the ground of privilege from testifying concerning the subject matter of treralets
statement; . . . .”). Convertino argues tAahenfelter’s affidavit should be admissible
under Federal Rule of Eviden884(a) because Ashenfelter is unavailabig,Rule 804
does not make aditatements bynavailable declaramadmissible. Ashenfelter’s affidavit
does not meet any of the requirements for admissibility related to unavailabdiy u
Rule 804(b). Rule 84b) says that former testimony, statements under belief of
impending deathstatements against interestatements of personal or family history,
forfeiture by wrongdoingare not excluded by the hearsay rule if the declarant is
unavailable as a witnes$ed. R. Evd. 804(b). Convertino makes no argument that
Ashenfelter’s affidavit meets any of Rule 804(b)’s requirements, and this fCwlsthat

it does notThe Court also finds that the statements in Ashenfelter’s affidavit do not fall
within any otler hearsay exception within the Federal Rules of Eviddrtugs, neither

Ashenfelter’s affidavit nor the article is helpful to Convertino’s case.

f. Convertino is judicially estopped from arguing that he can survive
summary judgment without knowing the leakers identity.

Even if Convertino could overcome all of the hurdles discussed above, he is
judicially estopped from arguing that he can prevail over DOJ’s Motion for Summary
Judgment without knowing the leaker’s identity. Judicial estofgelents a partjrom
taking one position in one legal proceeding, succeeding in that position, and then later
taking a contrary positionConvertino v. U.S. Dep’t dlustice 674 F. Supp. 2d 97, 106—

07 (D.D.C. 2009)Courts should also consider whether the party see&iagsert an
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inconsistent position would derive an unfair advantage or impose an unfair detriment on
the opposing party if not estoppé&ttince Constr. Co. v. District of Columbia Contract
Appeals Bd.892 A.2d 380, 386—-87 n.7 (D.C. 2006) (quothew Hanpshire v. Maine

532 U.S. 742, 750-51 (2001) (citations omitted).

Convertino has long recognized that his inability to identify the leaker dooms his
case. In his memorandum for Judge Cleland in the litigatitime Eastern District of

Michigan that hasgralleled this onehe argued:

Respondents [Ashenfelter and the Free Press] asserted that “Convertino
need not prove the specific person(s) within the DOJ who leaked the
information in order to prevail in his Privacy Act clatonly that the

source was a DDemployee and disclosed the information willfullyHis
assertion is wrongln fact, in its [memorandum, DOJ] itself argued that
Respondents’ argument was mistaken and “misreads the relevant case
law.”

The DOJ explained that “[c]ontrary to [Respondents’] assertion, without
the name of the source of the alleged disclosure, plaintiff Convertino
cannot sustain his burden of proof on any of the threshold elements
necessary for him to prove a Privacy Act violation. For example, without
the name of the source, Convertino cannot show that the purported
‘disclosure’ was made with the necessary willfulness and intent to satisfy
the requirements of the Act. Nor can he show that the information
complained of was, in fact, actually retrieved from a system of records
Governed by the Privacy Act, or that the unidentified source(s) in fact
conveyed the precise information attributed to them by Ashenfelter.” DOJ
Response at-R. The DOJ then discussed these points in considerable
detail, making many of the same argumehg Mr. Convertino made in

his original Motion to Compel, clearly demonstrating that the identity of
Mr. Ashenfelter’s confidential source(s) “goes to the heart” of Mr.
Convertino’s claim.

As explained in Mr. Convertino’s initial motion, and further explained by
the U.S. Department of Justice, the identity of Mr. Ashenfelter' sce¢sir
rest at the “heart of Mr. Convertino’s case.” Consistent nutmerous
Privacy Act cases concerning a plaintiff's need to confirm the identity of
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the leaker in a Privacy Adisclosure casehis proposition cannot be
reasonably contested.

Plaintiff's Reply to NonParty Media Respalents’ Response to PI's Motion to Compel
Production Convertino v. U.S. Dep’t of Justatel0-11, 2:07ev-13842RHC-RSW
(E.D. Mich. Apr. 18, 2008), ECF No. 25 (emphases added). Judge Cleland agreed with
Convertino on this issue and relied on this finding in granting Convertino the relief he
sought:

As the DOJ points out in its brief, Convertino cannot sustain his burden of

proof on the Privacy Actlaim without identifying Ashenfelter’s source.

To prove his Privacy Act case, Convertino must demonstrate that the

agency acted “in violation of the Act in a willful or intentional manner,

either by committing the act without grounds for believing it tdalagul,

or by flagrantly disregarding others’ rights under the Aattright v.

United States732 F.2d 181, 189 (D.C. Cir. 1984). To establish that the

DOJ committed a willful or intentional violation, he must present evidence

of the disclosing person’s state of mind, which requires him to identify

and question those who perpetrated the allegedly improper disclosure.
Hatfill v. Gonzales505 F. Supp. 2d 33, 42-43 (D.D.C. 2007).

Convertino v. U.S. Dep'’t of Justicz07€v-13842, 2008 WL 4104347, at *7 (E.D. Mich.

Aug. 28, 2008).

Even more recently, and in this Court, Convertino has insisted that knowledge of
the leaker’s identity is essential to his success in this lawsuit. In his Oppdsiti®DJ’s
Motion for Summary Judgment, he concedes that “the essentiafact of his case” is
“the identity of the DOJ employee who [allegedly] leaked the OPR Lettéds.to
Ashenfelter.” Opp’mot. Summ. J4 (emphasis added). Herflaer concedes that he
“still lacks essentiakvidence as to the identity of the leakéd.’at 5 (emphasis added);
see also idat 6 (“The central question in this case is how Mr. Ashenfelter learned of the

existence of the OPR investigation and the details of the allegations aboutriertiho
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that Mr. Collins referred to in the OPR.”). And, in his Rule 56(f) Motion, he statesyplainl
that, because he lacks information regarding Ashenfelter's source, “Goaweninot
present facts essential for the justification of his oppostbaummay judgment.” Rule

56(f) Mot. 1, Oct. 18, 2010, ECF No. 187 (emphasis added).

Convertino has insisted throughout this litigation that knowing the leaker’s
identity is essential to his caght various times, that insistence has inured to his benefit.
Thus, he is now judicially stopped from taking the contrary posiG@omverting 674 F.

Supp. 2d at 106-07.

Although the willfulness and intentionality problems discussed above are fatal to
each of Convertino’s claims, the Court goes on to discuss certain additional problems

regarding his rules of conduand accounting claims.

2. Convertino’s rules of conduct claim fails.

The burden of establishing a rules of conduct violation unéetic (e)(9) of the
Privecy Act is particularly highSection (g)P) provides that each agency that maintains a

system of ecords shall:
establish rules of conduct for persons involved in the design, development,
operation, or maintenance of any system of records, or in maintaining any
record, and instruct each such person with respect to such rules and the

requirements of this section, including any other rules and procedures
adopted pursuant to this section and the penalties of noncompliance.

5 U.S.C. § 552a(e)(9).

“The Privacy Act does not make administrative agencies guarantors of the

integrity and security of the materials which they generate,” or “authtwzietieral
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courts to act as micrmanagers of the records practices of the administrative agencies.”
Kostyu v. United State$42 F. Supp. 413, 417 (E.D. Mich. 1990). Instead, “the agencies
are to decide for themses how to manage their record security problems, within the
broad parameters set out by the Aad.”In doing so, “[T]he agencies have broad
discretion to [choose] among alternative methods of securing their recondsensurate
with their needs, objectes, procedures, and resourcéd.Civil liability is reserved for
those lapses that constitute an extraordinary departure from standards ofbleasona

conduct.d.

Convertino argues that “the evidence shows that the DOJ completely failed to
carry out his obligation, as official after official testified that they had received little to
no instruction in the Privacy Act.” Opp’n Mot. Summ. J. 28. He goes on to emphasize the
testimony of seval DOJ officials who reportetthat they were unfamiliar with the
Privacy Act.ld. The problem with Convertino’s argument is that the Privacy Act does not
require DOJ officialdo understand thBrivacy Act It only requires that each covered
employeeaunderstand the proper handling of systems of records over whictshe bas
responsibility as well asecords that he or she is responsible for maintaining. Just
because certainOJ employees did not associate their knowledge and training regarding
records systems management with the words “Privacy Act” does not me#methatere
not, in fact, properly instructad records gstems management. Courts cargreate a
magicwords test requiring government employ&eassociatetherwisesatisfactory
training with the words “Privacy Act” withou&t{ing] as micremanager®f the records
practices of the administrative agencid€dstyu v. United State42 F. Supp. 413, 417

(E.D. Mich. 1990).
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In this case, whether they knew the statute was called the Privacy Act or not,
Convertino himself recognizes thavery DOJ employegeposed by Mr. Convertino
testified that they understood the sensitivity of an OPR referral and kne@Rka
officials were supposed to be kept confidential.” Opp’n Mot. Summ. &ek8also id.
(“Eric Straus also testified that it was general knalgkewithin the DOJ that OPR
matters were confidential.”Jhis shows two things. FirdDOJ officials in this case
received enough instruction to preclude a determination of an extraordinarfudepar
from standards of reasonable conduct because they uniformly understood the confidential
natue of the information at issu€f. Dong v. Smithsonian Instityt843 F. Supp. 69, 73
(D.D.C. 1996) (finding a violation of the Privacy Act where there were “cleacatidn
that the agency intentionally chose to ignthe law merely because of its disagreement
with the District Court’s ruling” constituting “reckless disregard for thedty Act
rights of the approximately twihirds of the Smithsonian staff who are federal service
employees”)Secondwhatever injuies Convertino may hawaifferedcould not have
been caused by a lack of records management training beeasi$® concedesDOJ

employees were aware that OPR materials were required to be kept confidential.

Convertino relies oong v. Smithsonian Ins©43 F. Supp. 69 (D.D.C. 1996),
but that case does not help his Section (e)(9) cRonginvolved a claim under Section
(e)(2) regarding the agency'’s collection of employee informatibrat 70. This Court
found a “reckless disregard for the Privacy Agy’an agency that believed it was not
subject to thé\ct. Id. at 73. Here, in contrgddOJ has “promulgated extensive
regulations, codified at 28 C.F.R. § 161 seq,.that safeguard its Privacy Aptotected

records.”Krieger v. U.S. Dep’t of Justic&29 F. Supp. 2d 24, 54-55 (D.D.C. 2008); 28
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C.F.R. 88 16.40-16.55. Those regulations show that DOJ embraces its obligations under

the Privacy Act—a far cry from the “reckless disregairttie agency exhibiteish Dong

3. Convertino’s accounting claim fils

Corvertino’s accounting clair-like each of his other claimsfails because he
cannot show that DOJ acted intemtlly or willfully. The Court, however, proceeds to
discuss other problems with his accounting claim. First, looking to the statute’isste
acounting provision requires an agency to “keep an accurate accounting of [certain
information regarding] each disclosure of a record to any person or to another agenc
made under subsection (b) of this secti®&U.S.C. § 552(c)(1)(A) (emphasis added).
Thereferenced subsection (I turn,states twelve categories of permissible disclosure.
5 U.S.C. § 552a(b). The Act’s accounting requirement, therefore, applies only where
there has been an antecedent disclosure of a record that was made pursuannhto Secti
552a(b), and has no application where an alleged disclosure was made unlawfully,
meaning that it was not made in accordance with subsectidbg@Beaven v. U.S. Dep't
of Justice Civil Action No. 03-84JBC,2007 WL 1032301, at *23 (E.D. Ky. Mar. 30,
2007) (“The plaintiff's complaint is that the defendants failed to make an accouhting o
the allegedinauthorizedlisclosure, and the accounting requirement of the Privacy Act, 8
552a(c), is therefore inapplicable.”) (emphasis in origirtddye, becausedhvertino

contendghatthe disclosure was unlawful, he cannot bring a claim under § 552(c).

Secondthe Court seriously questions whether Convertino could prove a
disclosure in the first place for reasons similar to those discussed above intioonnec

with the Court’s willfulness or intentionality analysis. Convertino cites threesswf
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evidence of a DOJ disclosure: (1) the Ashenfelter article, (2) the Ashesiiéidavit,

and (3) the OIG ReporAs discussed above, neither Ashenfelter’s articlehmaffidavit

is acceptable evidenceven at the summary judgment stage. Further, the OIG Report not
only fails to show that any DOJ empé®e made a disclosubeitis arguably evidence that

DOJ didnot disclose information to Asherifer.

4. The Court denies Convertino’s Motion for a Stay Pursuant to Rule 56(f).

Convertino argues thaummary judgment is prematutespite the passage of
seven years siecthis litigation’s inceptiomnd moves for a stay to enable him to
continue to pursue Ashenfelter ane Detroit Free Pressn the Eastern District of
Michigan.Mot. Stay, Oct. 18, 2010, ECF No. 187. Because the Court is not persuaded
that the requested stay and potential subsequent disarediigely to result in the
revelation of triable fact issugi$ denies Convertino’s MotiorCitizens for Responsibility
& Ethics in Wash. v. Leavjts77 F.Supp.2d 427, 434 (D.D.C. 2008) (citaypenter v.

Fed. Nat'l Mortgage Ass'nl74 F.3d 231, 237 (D.C. Cir. 1999)).

Rule 56(f) allows courts to “order a contance to enable affidavits to be
obtained, depositions to be taken, or other discovery to be undertaken” when “a party
opposing the motion shows by affidavit that, for specified reasons, it cannot present fa
essential to justify its opposition.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(f). In otdedlemonstrate that a
partyhas not had the “full opportunity to conducsabvery,” a partygeeking a Rule 56(f)
continuance should state why it is “unable to present the necessary opposingl.iateri
Cloverleaf Standardbred Owners Ass’n, Inc. v. Nat'| Bank of W6&68.F.2d 1274, 1278

n.6 (D.C. Cir. 1983).
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A stay to complete discovery under Rule 56(f) should be granted when the
requested discovery is likely to reveal triable issues of lfaetvitt 557 F.Supp.2d at 434
(citing Carpenter, 174 F.3d at 237). Here, though, a stay would likely be futile.
Convertino’s wholly unsuccessful attempts to procure the identiysloénfelters soure
in the Eastern District of Michigdmave now spanned several yediise Michigan Court
required him to seek his answers from Ashenfelter fishvertino v. U.S. Dep'’t of
Justice No. 07€CV-13842, 2008 WL 4104347 (E.D. Mich. Aug. 28, 2D08shenfelter
successfully invoked his Fifth Amendment privilege and was not required to didwdose t
source of the leaked information to Convertino. Mot. Summ. J. Ex. 5 at 105 (Second
Ashenfelter Dep.)Convertino then sought to compel etroit Free Presso subject
itself to discovery regarding the leaker’s identity. That motion is still penditige

Easern District of Michigan.

Convertino points out that this Court issued an Ord®srerthree years agethat

said:

ShouldConvertino v. United States Department of Justizé. No. 07-

13842 (E.D. Mich.) result in an order compelling Mr. David Ashenfelter
ard/or the Detroit Free Press to reveal confidential source information
issued after the close of the discovery period set forth above, the parties to
the instant action shall have 30 days from the time Mr. Ashenfelter, or the
Detroit Free Press, compliestivisuch an order, should one issue, in

which to conduct limited discovery related solely to matters arising from
Mr. Ashenfelter’s or the Detroit Free Press’s compliance with such.order

Order2, Dec.20, 2007, ECF No. 80. On the basis of that wordioge, Convertino
argues thatdiscovery in this case is still open, and will remain so until Mr. Convertino
has exhausted his pursuit of the source(s) of the leak.” Mgt2SEBut that is not so.

Indeed, the very point of the Order wasnake clear thaufther limited discovery
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would be availablé the Eastern District of Michigan compelled Ashenfelter or the

Detroit Free Press$o reveal the source of the leadfter the close of the discovery

period.” Order2 (emphasis added). The Court certainly did not bind its own hands by
restricting its ability to move forward in this case until the Eastern District ofilyioh
responds to all of Convertino’s motiorismerely made cleahatif such an order issued

from the Easteristrict of Michigan, itwould dlow the parties limited discovery related

to any developments that resulted fromdahger. Such an escape valve is still available

to Convertino even after this Opinion and the Order memorializing its reasoning. Afte

all, if the Eastern District of Miadgan compels discovery and Convertino is in fact able

to obtain the information he seeks, he is free to move for reconsideration in light of newly

discovered evidence. Fed. R. Civ. P. 60(b).

At this time, however, this Court is unwilling to prolotigs litigationfurther.
Convertino has spent nearly a decade in his unsuccesihulpts to identify
Ashenfelter’s sourcesind here issimply no reason to believe that yet another delay in
this case will result in diswery of that information. There is ayaeasa to believe,
however, that granting such a stay will likely result in delays beyond thosesaeg&o
allow theMichigan Courtto decide the mtion to compel that is now pendinfjthe
Michigan Court rules against Convertino, he will almostaiely appeal its decisions
related to Ashenfter’s Fifth Amendment rights arttie Detroit Free PressPresumably,
he would want to delay this case to await the result of thoselappsdhe Supreme
Court has said, “There must lan end to litigation, seeday’ Polities v. United States

364 U.S. 426, 433 (1960)his Court will not commit itself to delaying this litigation for
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what could easily become several more years based merely on Convertino’stisecula

hope that things will suddenly go his wayMichigan.

V. Conclusion

For the reasons discussed above, the Quartts DOJ'sMotion for Summary
Judgment and denies Convertino’s Motion for a Séageparate Order memorializing

this Opinion will issue today.

Date: March24, 2011 /s/ Royce C. Lafnerth

Chief United States District Judge
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